AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

HOW SAFE IS GADOBUTROL? EXAMINING THE EFFECT OF GADOLINIUM DEPOSITION ON THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

by MAYA WAFIK JAMMOUL

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon August 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

HOW SAFE IS GADOBUTROL? EXAMINING THE EFFECT OF GADOLINIUM DEPOSITION ON THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

BY

MAYA WAFIK JAMMOUL

Approved by:

Nada Laward

Advisor

Co-Advisor

Dr. Nada Lawand, Assistant Professor

Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology,

and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Wassim Abou Kheir, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Georges Daoud, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Abdo Jurjus. Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: August 10, 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

Student Name: Jammoul First Last

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my thesis.

Two years from the date of submission of my thesis.

 \square Three years from the date of submission of my thesis.

2021

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"Anything you dream is fiction, and anything you accomplish is science, the whole history of mankind is nothing but science fiction." — Ray Bradbury

I would like to thank Dr. Nada Lawand for her continued guidance and support throughout my project. You have taught me so much and given me the opportunity to grow on personal, professional, and academic levels. Thank you for believing in me when I doubted myself and for being my mentor. No matter where I go, I will always remember the impact you had on me dearly.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Mr. Bassem Najem and Ms. Batoul Darwish for their guidance and help in the lab. You have taught me that anything can be perfected with practice and patience.

Thank you to Mr. Jimmy Asroui from the Environment Core Laboratory at the American University of Beirut for the inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry analysis.

Thank you to the Diana Tamari Sabbagh Scholars Program (DTSSP) for their generous funding of the present work.

Finally, I would like to thank my family who deserve more than words can ever express and more gratitude than I can ever repay so enough said.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Maya Wafik Jammoul</u>

for

Master of Science Major: Neuroscience

Title: <u>How Safe Is Gadobutrol? Examining the Effect of Gadolinium Deposition on the Nervous System</u>

Background and objective: Repeated administration of Gadolinium based contrast agents (GBCAs) has been shown to cause Gadolinium (Gd) deposition in the nervous system. It is unclear whether neurotoxic effects can arise from this deposition. The aim of this study was to evaluate the safety of the GBCA, Gadobutrol, by assessing its effect on the central and peripheral nervous system under normal conditions and to investigate whether neuroinflammation can exacerbate the effect of Gadobutrol.

Methods: As such, 24 male Sprague Dawley rats were divided into 4 groups that consisted of a saline group, Gadobutrol group, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) + saline group and an LPS + Gadobutrol group. Gadobutrol and saline were administered intraperitoneally for 20 days at a dosage of 2.5mmol/kg while LPS was given intraperitoneally at a dosage of 5mg/kg followed by Gadobutrol or saline after 1 hour and for 20 days. Behavioral tests that include the heat hyperalgesia test, beam walking test, and spontaneous alternation T-maze test were conducted weekly over a period of 4 weeks to evaluate pain sensitivity, motor function, and cognitive ability. Gd concentration was measured in the brain and peripheral nerves, using Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS), one week following the last set injection. Additionally, electromyography (EMG) and an assay of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity in the sciatic nerve and hippocampus were carried out. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test in addition to multiple t-tests and unpaired t-tests were utilized for statistical analysis.

Results and conclusion: Results showed that Gadobutrol did not cause behavioral deficits under normal conditions; however, the cumulative effect of LPS and Gadobutrol significantly impaired pain sensitivity over time. ICP-MS showed Gd deposition in the cerebrum and peripheral nerves in addition to greater deposition in the cerebrum of the LPS + Gadobutrol group. LDH activity was significantly higher in the hippocampus of the Gadobutrol group but not in the sciatic nerve and EMG revealed that Gadobutrol led to a decreased activation threshold in the sciatic nerve. In conclusion, repeated administration of Gadobutrol is safe under normal conditions; however, inflammation can exacerbate the effect of Gadobutrol over time leading to central and peripheral manifestations.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACŀ | KNOWLEDGEMENTS | 1 |
|--------------|---|----|
| ABS | STRACT | 2 |
| ILLU | USTRATIONS | 5 |
| TAE | BLES | 7 |
| ABE | BREVIATIONS | 8 |
| INT | RODUCTION | 10 |
| A. | Chemical Structure of GBCAs | 10 |
| B. | Role of GBCAs in Imaging | 13 |
| C. | Bio-distribution and clinical manifestations of GBCAs | 14 |
| D .] | Pre-clinical studies on the effects of GBCAs | 18 |
| E. | Routes of GBCAs entry into the nervous system | 20 |
| F. | Possible mechanisms of Gd toxicity | 23 |
| G. | Aim of the Study | 25 |
| ME | THODS | 26 |
| A. | Animals | 26 |
| B. 1 | Experimental design | 26 |
| C. | LPS administration | 28 |

| D. | Animal Perfusion | .28 |
|--------------|---|-----|
| E. | Behavioral tests | .29 |
| 1 | . Heat Hyperalgesia test | .29 |
| 2 | 2. Beam walking test | .29 |
| 3 | 3. Spontaneous Alternation T-Maze Test | .30 |
| F. | Electrophysiological Assessment | .30 |
| G. | Quantification of Gadolinium using ICP-MS | .31 |
| H. | LDH assay | .32 |
| I. | Statistical analysis | .33 |
| RES | ULTS | 34 |
| A. | Heat Hyperalgesia | .34 |
| B. | Beam Walking | .36 |
| C. | Spontaneous alternation T- Maze test | .37 |
| D. | Electrophysiological Assessment | .38 |
| E. | Quantification of Gadolinium using ICP-MS | .39 |
| F. | LDH assay | .41 |
| DIS | CUSSION | 43 |
| CON | NCLUSION | 48 |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY | | |

ILLUSTRATIONS

| 1. | Timeline of the experiment |
|----|---|
| 2. | Chemical Structure of Gadobutrol |
| 3. | Setup of the electromyography carried out in the saline and Gadobutrol groups. A bipolar stimulating electrode is connected to the proximal left sciatic nerve and a recording electrode is inserted in the gastrocnemius muscle |
| 4. | A- Effect of Gadobutrol administration on heat hyperalgesia in the right hindpaw. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline (++: P <0.01). One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point between groups |
| 5. | Effect of Gadobutrol administration on motor performance in the beam walking test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline (+: P<0.05; ++: P <0.01). One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point between groups |
| 6. | Effect of Gadobutrol administration on spatial working memory in the T-maze test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline. One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point |
| 7. | Amplitude of the evoked compound muscle action potentials recorded at a voltage of 1V, 5V, and 7V in the saline and Gadobutrol groups. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, multiple t-tests were done at each voltage |
| 8. | Concentration of Gadolinium in the cerebrum (area between the optic chiasm and the midbrain) of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done (***: P <0.001) |
| 9. | Concentration of Gadolinium in the peripheral nerves (sciatic and trigeminal nerves) of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done (**: P <0.01) |

Figure

10. Lactate dehydrogenase activity in the right hippocampus of the saline group and the Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical

TABLES

Table

| 12. | Table 1: Names, structures, and types of different GBCAs. | 13 |
|-----|---|------------|
| 13. | Table 2: The concentration of Gadolinium in the cerebrum and peripheral nerv of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and the LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. | res .40 |

ABBREVIATIONS

GBCAs: Gadolinium-based contrast agents MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging Gd: Gadolinium FDA: Federal and drug administration NSF: Nephrogenic systemic fibrosis Gd³⁺: Gd ions Ca²⁺: Calcium ion VGCC: Voltage-gated calcium channels Zn^{2+} : Zinc ion Cu²⁺: Cupric ion Bex: External magnetic field RF: Radio-frequency T1: Longitudinal relaxation T2: Transverse relaxation CT: Computed tomography PNS: Peripheral nervous system CNS: Central nervous system ROS: Release reactive oxygen species LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid **BBB**: Blood-brain-barrier CVOs: Circumventricular organs MS: Multiple sclerosis

ATPases: Adenosine triphosphatases

IL: Interleukin

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide

IACUC: Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

LEAF: Laboratories for the Environment, Agriculture, and Food

ICP-MS: Inductively coupled plasma spectrometry

PFA: Paraformaldehyde

CMAP: Compound muscle action potential

EMG: Electromyography

PBS: Phosphate buffered saline

SEM: Standard error of the mean

ANOVA: Analysis of variance

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs) are drugs widely used for Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) to enhance the quality of scanned images and to improve the accuracy of the diagnosis. The use of Gadolinium (Gd) as a possible contrast agent was introduced by Weinmann and colleagues in 1984 (1). Soon, the U.S. Federal and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first GBCA, Gadopentetate Dimeglumine (Magnevist), in 1988 (2). Other types of GBCAs followed such as Gadodiamide (Omniscan), Gadoterate Meglumine (Dotarem), and Gadobutrol (Gadavist) (3). All these agents were considered safe until 2006, when reports of adverse reactions such as nephrogenic systemic fibrosis (NSF) in patients with a history of renal dysfunction were published (4). As a result, the FDA recommended that the administration of specific GBCAs should be avoided in patients with a history of kidney problems (5). In 2017, the FDA issued another warning on GBCAs as evidence of Gd retention in various body tissues emerged, which prompted limiting multiple dosages of GBCAs (6).

A. Chemical Structure of GBCAs

GBCAs consist of Gd ion (Gd³⁺) and specific chelating ligand complexes (7). Gd is a lanthanide metal that possesses seven unpaired electrons responsible for its excellent paramagnetic properties (7). On the other hand, chelating ligands are cyclic or linear polyaminocarboxylic acid complexes bound to Gd^{3+} with 8 coordinate bonds, which allows a water molecule to occupy the ninth coordination site (7). These ligands are carriers that encapsulate the Gd^{3+} ion to prevent its dissociation and release (7). Free

Gd³⁺ can disrupt many biological processes when deposited in tissues and causes toxicity (7). The similarity between the ionic radius of Gd³⁺ (108ppm) and that of the calcium ion (Ca²⁺) (114ppm), enables the Gd³⁺ ion to compete with Ca²⁺ ions and inhibit specific enzymes or block voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) (3). It is hypothesized that transmetallation of Gd³⁺ with Zinc (Zn²⁺), cupric (Cu²⁺), or Ca²⁺ ions is a possible mechanism by which Gd³⁺ dissociates from chelating ligands (3). Preclinical studies have highlighted the effectiveness of chelation in decreasing Gd toxicity by showing a ten times increase in the median lethal dose (LD50) of Gd following chelation (8). Nonetheless, the beneficial effect of chelating compounds on eliminating retained Gd from human tissues remains to be studied (8).

GBCAs are classified into macrocyclic or linear and ionic or non-ionic depending on the chemical structure of the bound ligands (9). In macrocyclic GBCAs, ligands completely surround the Gd³⁺ ion forming a cage-like structure, while in linear or open chain GBCAs, the ligands partially encapsulate it (10). Macrocyclic GBCAs like Gadoterate Meglumine and Gadobutrol are considered more stable than linear GBCAs due to their lower dissociation rate and higher thermodynamic and kinetic stability (3). Moreover, GBCAs can be classified according to their net charge. In ionic GBCAs, the chelating ligands possess more than three negatively charged elements that form electromagnetic interactions with the central Gd³⁺(10). Therefore, the net negative charge of ionic GBCAs are neutrally charged with three or less negatively charged moieties interacting with Gd³⁺, which results in a weaker bond than that of ionic GBCAs (10). Examples of ionic GBCAs include Gadopentetate Dimeglumine and Gadobutrol are non-ionic GBCAs (3).

The kinetic stability of different types of GBCAs in human serum was assessed by measuring the amount of free Gd^{3+} before and after adding 1mmol/L solution of GBCAs over 15 days (11). At physiological pH and temperature, the dissociation of Gd^{3+} in non-ionic linear GBCAs was shown to be 10 times greater than in linear ionic GBCAs. On the other hand, the release rate of Gd^{3+} in macrocyclic GBCAs was almost null indicating stability even when 10mM phosphate was added to the serum (11). Thus, the results confirmed the predicted stability of the different types of GBCAs, based on their chemical properties, and showed that macrocyclic and ionic GBCAs tend to be more stable than their linear and non-ionic counterparts respectively.

| Common | Chemical structure | Chemical name | Туре |
|----------|--------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|
| name | | | |
| Gadavist | | Gadobutrol | Macrocyclic, non-ionic |
| Omniscan | | Gadodiamide | Linear, non- ionic |
| Dotarem | | Gadoterate Meglumine | Macrocyclic, ionic |

| Magnevist | Gadopentetate Dimeglumine | Linear, ionic |
|-----------|------------------------------|---------------------------|
| ProHance | Gadoteridol | Macrocyclic, non-ionic |

Table 1: Names, structures, and types of different GBCAs.

B. Role of GBCAs in Imaging

In 1977, the first scan of the human body was generated using a whole body MRI, which led to the introduction of a revolutionary imaging technique (12). MRIs function by utilizing the effect of an external magnetic field (B_{ex}) and radio-frequency (RF) field on the magnetic moment of hydrogen atoms in water molecules (13). Hydrogen atoms have a random nuclear spin that creates a nuclear magnetic moment analogous to a magnet bar (13). When a B_{ex} is applied, hydrogen atoms realign with its direction then undergo an energy transition upon the addition of a RF field (13). More specifically, when the RF emitter is off, hydrogen atoms release a RF that is detected by a coil receiver and consequently analyzed by a computer to create an image (13). The emission of a RF signal indicates a transition from a high energy state to a low one or what is termed relaxation of the hydrogen atoms upon realigning with the original B_{ex} (13). Moreover, the shorter the relaxation time, which is composed of the longitudinal (T1) relaxation and transverse (T2) relaxation, the better the signal (14).

The significance of GBCAs arises from their ability to decrease T1 and T2 or their high relaxivity (14). This characteristic depends on the number of water molecules bound to Gd³⁺ in the inner sphere and their mean residency time, in addition to the number water molecules and their residency time in the surrounding coordination spheres (15). To induce relaxation, GBCAs create a fluctuating magnetic field due to the relaxation or excitation of Gd³⁺ electrons and the "tumbling" of the molecule that is described by its rotational correlation time (15). The water molecule bound to Gd^{3+} in the inner sphere is the first one to undergo relaxation by the unpaired electrons of Gd³⁺ (14). The faster it is exchanged with other water molecules, the better the GBCA (14). Relaxivity can be enhanced by increasing the number of water molecules in the inner sphere or by decreasing the tumbling rate of the molecule by using a larger one (16). However, the stability of the GBCA can be compromised by decreasing the bonds between Gd³⁺ and its chelating ligand along with the limitation imposed by other factors when tumbling rate is slowed (15, 16). All FDA approved GBCAs bind one water molecule in their inner sphere and are administered at a dose of 0.5mmol/ml except for Gadobutrol, which is administered at a dose of 1mmol/ml (16). This is attributed to the slightly larger size of Gadobutrol compared to the other GBCAs and the consequent lower tumbling rate (16). Knowing that the efficiency of a GBCA depends on its concentration and relaxivity, Gadobutrol is thus considered the best GBCA owing to its high concentration and relaxivity (16).

C. Bio-distribution and clinical manifestations of GBCAs

While Gd deposition following GBCA administration became expected in people with renal dysfunction, proof of such deposition in people with normal renal

function soon emerged. For example, Gd was shown to be deposited in different tissues like the skin, bone, and liver (17-19). In 2014, Kanda and colleagues found a correlation between the total dose of GBCAs and an increased signal intensity in the dentate nucleus and globus pallidus of patients injected with GBCAs (20). Moreover, postmortem studies detected Gd deposition in the brains of subjects without renal dysfunction (21). These studies prompted further investigation to understand the effect of GBCAs and identify the mechanisms by which Gd is deposited in the aforementioned organs, especially the brain. First, it is vital to understand the potential bio-distribution of GBCAs. GBCAs are extracellular fluid contrast agents (22). Thus, following an intravenous injection, GBCAs are transported in the blood and the extracellular space to be finally eliminated by the liver and kidneys (22). Gadobutrol is excreted via glomerular filtration with a half-life of 1.33-2.13 hours, and, within 12 hours, 90% of the intravenous injection is eliminated in the urine (23). However, GBCAs avoid first pass clearance and circulate in the body before excretion, which allows them to reach other compartments (24).

In addition to organ deposition, GBCAs can cause other side effects like physiological reactions and allergic-like reactions depending on the type of GBCA used (25). Physiological reactions include nausea, dizziness, headaches, chills, chest pain, and burning pain whereas allergic-like reactions are comprised of anaphylaxis, wheezing, and other throat symptoms (25). Studies have shown that the rate of adverse reactions following GBCA administration is low with most of the reactions being mild (26-28). For example, the rate of allergic reactions following Gadobutrol administration was found to be 0.32% (29). Pain development has also been observed in the extremities including the hips, elbows, knees, and wrists directly following GBCA

injection (30). One case report describes a man who suffered from severe arm pain after Gadopentetate Dimeglumine administration (31). Four cases of women with normal renal function demonstrated Gd deposition along with acute or chronic symptoms after GBCA injections (32). These symptoms included torso pain, a headache, arm pain, leg pain, and skin thickening in the extremities (32). Moreover, such occurrences of chronic symptoms have been supported by other reports whereby patients complained of headaches, bone pain, and joint pain (33). The aforementioned results further highlight the need to investigate the link between peripheral acute or chronic pain onset and Gd exposure. This is especially true as an association between fibromyalgia and Gd toxicity has been postulated (34).

Other than peripheral pain, GBCAs can heavily impact the brain by inducing neurotoxicity (35). This was demonstrated in patients with an iodine allergy who require an intrathecal injection of GBCAs instead for neuroaxial procedures (35). One report describes the case of a man, with a history of chronic pain, who suffered from aphasia and confusion (36). Initially, an acute subarachnoid hemorrhage was suspected, yet a computed tomography (CT) angiogram disproved this, and the patient was diagnosed with Gd-induced encephalopathy due to the use of intrathecal analgesia pump (36). Similarly, another report describes a patient who developed seizures, confusion, and respiratory difficulties after receiving 2 (4ml) intrathecal injections of Gadodiamide for an epidugram (37). The patient was diagnosed with Gd-induced encephalopathy after a non-contrast MRI revealed intracerebral and intraventricular Gd deposition (37). In the two cases, the patients improved after a few days of hospitalization; however, a fatal case of Gd-induced encephalopathy has been reported after the development of acute Gd neurotoxicity (38). The patient died 18 days after

receiving a second intrathecal injection of (5ml) Gadoteridol (38). Symptoms of the deceased included confusion, seizures, tachycardia, and respiratory distress while an autopsy revealed infarctions in the cerebral cortex, changes in the cerebellum, and gliosis in the hippocampus and pons (38). Thus, guidelines have been updated to allow a maximum of 0.5 mL of 0.5 mmoL/mL GBCAs to be injected intrathecally, following CSF aspiration, and even to use iodine contrast agents instead along with allergy management (39). Also, as exemplified above, both linear and macrocyclic GBCAs can result in neurotoxicity, which indicates that the resultant neurotoxicity is independent of the nature of the chelating agent.

The clinical safety of Gadobutrol has been widely demonstrated. This is supported by a prospective study on 3710 adults and children, whereby only 0.59% reported a minimum of one adverse reaction that mostly appeared 1hour post injection (40). However, this study lacked a comparator group. When Gadobutrol was compared to other types of GBCAs in 42 (phase II to IV) studies, it was found that the rate of drug related adverse reactions in both was 3.5% (41). Nonetheless, this study was limited by the small sample size of the comparator group. Also, both studies did not investigate the effect of multiple injections of Gadobutrol and the long term effects associated with Gd deposition. On the other hand, a retrospective study that looked at the effect of 10-34 injections of Gadobutrol in 25 children compared to a control group of children with no GBCA exposure showed no T1 hyperintensities in the dentate nucleus or globus pallidus (42). The results were independent of the number of Gadobutrol injections, dosage, or time between MRI scans (42); however, whether other brain areas or other parts of the nervous system exhibited T hyperintensities following Gadobutrol injection has not been indicated. A follow-up study is warranted to determine the long term effect of deposited Gd and trace their presence in other areas of the nervous system. For example, given the high rate of Gd deposition in bone, which is 23 times that in the brain, and the fact that for > 8 years, Gd can remain in bone, Gd in the bones of children can be mobilized with bone growth to reach the peripheral nervous system (PNS) or the central nervous system (CNS) (43, 44). Interestingly, intrathecally injected Gadobutrol displayed similar safety to an iodine contrast agent with a recommended dose of 0.5mmol/ml (45, 46). Lower extremity pain and spasms have been observed immediately following an intrathecal injection of Gadobutrol (1mmol/ml) (47). In addition, intrathecal Gadobutrol induced seizures, confusion, and aphasia with signal hyperatenuation in the subarachnoid space and other brain cisterns (35). Thus, given that the recommended concentration of Gadobutrol is twice that of other GBCAs, more research is required to determine the intrathecal dosage with minimal side effects.

D. Pre-clinical studies on the effects of GBCAs

Following 20 daily injections of GBCAs in rats at a dosage of 2.5mmol/ml, it was demonstrated that linear GBCAs result in greater Gd deposition in the brain than macrocyclic GBCAs (19). This is supported by other studies that detected Gd accumulation in the spinal cord and peripheral nerves of rats in addition to the back skin of mice (48, 49).

Gd can block VGCC, which could affect the transport of synaptic vesicles and release of neurotransmitters across synapses (50). In sensory neurons, disruption of Ca^{2+} flow across voltage gated or ligand gated channels can affect pain processing (51). Also, alterations in Ca^{2+} concentrations and neuronal death are suggested to play a role in the pathophysiology of neuropathic pain (52). This is supported by an in vivo study

that showed a decrease in intraepidermal nerve fiber density and an increase in terminal axon swellings 4 weeks after a single GBCA injection (48). It also indicated that small fiber neuropathy, which is accompanied by pain in the lower extremities, could be caused by GBCAs (48). Nonetheless, the study did not investigate whether these changes were permanent and affected by multiple GBCA injections. Furthermore, it has been shown that multiple Gadodiamide injections in rats induce pain hypersensitivity to thermal and mechanical stimuli (49). However, the study found no effect of GBCAs, whether linear or macrocyclic, on spatial working memory or hippocampal neurogenesis (49). In addition, motor disturbances such as ataxia have been observed in rats injected with Gadopentetate Dimeglumine in the lateral ventricles at a dose of 5 to 15 µmol/g brain (53). Gadopentetate Dimeglumine showed a neurotoxic effect that spread in the nervous system to cause lesions in the thalamus, brain stem, and spinal cord which is consistent with the presentation of ataxia (53). On the other hand, injecting Gadodiamide intraventricularly produced a similar neurotoxic effect but with lesions mainly located in the cerebellum and none in the spinal cord or brain stem (54). Thus, given the variation in GBCAs characteristics and structures, it would be of great consequence to detect and analyze the subtle morphological changes in the brain induced by the intraventricular injection of both macrocyclic and linear GBCAs. In addition, the need for comprehensive studies that investigate the differential effect of GBCAs on Gd retention in neural tissue and the resultant sensorimotor and cognitive impairment cannot be over emphasized

The use of Gd has displayed an environmental harm as seawater that is contaminated with Gd caused accumulation of Gd in mussels (55). The mussels exhibited neurotoxicity, an increase in oxidative stress, and a decrease in metabolic

ability (55). Evidence of Gd-induced neurotoxicity is supported by in vitro studies as well. For example, Gd was shown to induce neurotoxicity in rat cortical neurons by impairing mitochondrial function and increasing oxidative stress (56). More specifically, Gd^{3+} triggered the mitochondria to release reactive oxygen species (ROS) that directly led to cell death, or indirectly by activating a cascade of cytochrome c and caspase-3 release (56). DNA fragmentation and an increase in lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release were also observed (56). In a similar study Gd^{3+} was shown to increase oxidative stress in rat cortical neurons leading to LDH release and cell death (57). However, they demonstrated that the ROS induced activation of the endoplasmic reticulum further enhanced oxidative stress and neuronal apoptosis (57). Both studies have provided evidence that Gd³⁺ leads to neurotoxicity in neuronal cells. Erdogan and colleagues (2020) investigated whether GBCAs could lead to a similar outcome (58). Indeed, macrocyclic and linear GBCAs resulted in neuronal cell death with the effect being more pronounced in the linear group compared to the macrocyclic one that included Gadoterate Meglumine and Gadobutrol (58). Neurotoxicity increased with GBCA dosage and was evident even at micro levels of GBCAs (58).

E. Routes of GBCAs entry into the nervous system

After metals enter the body, they accumulate in tissues that require metals such as the brain or heart, store metals like bone, or eliminate metals such as the liver and kidneys (59). In the nervous system, it is plausible that GBCAs enter the brain through the blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)-barrier, blood-brain-barrier (BBB), and the circumventricular organs (CVOs). The blood-CSF-barrier allows access to the CSF through the fenestrations characterizing the choroid plexus cells and the lack of tight

junctions (60). Indeed, different types of GBCAs were found to enter the brain through the CSF regardless of their properties (61). The glymphatic system plays an important role in the distribution of toxins possibly carried by the CSF in the nervous system (60). Once in the CSF, GBCAs move to the subarachnoid space and enter the brain through the spaces surrounding the cerebral arteries (60). Bulk flow movement distributes the CSF across the brain parenchyma through Aquaporin 4 channels to reach different parts of the brain and possibly the spinal cord (60).

However, another portal for GBCAs to reach the brain is through the BBB, which has been evidenced by transmission electron microscopy (62). The BBB is made up of endothelial cells bound by tight junctions and lined by different cells including pericytes and astrocytic end feet (63). However, inflammation compromises the integrity of the BBB by acting on its cellular components and the basement membrane (64). The various mechanisms by which this may occur include the downregulation of tight junction proteins or membrane transporters in addition to the upregulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules and the disruption of astrocyte function (64). Multiple pre-clinical studies examined the effect of intravenous GBCA administration after the osmotic disruption of the BBB. Results indicated a dose-dependent effect whereby macrocyclic GBCAs injected at dosages of 0.2, 0.3, and 0.6 mmol/kg did not cause neurotoxic effects whereas macrocyclic and linear GBCAs given at dosages of 1 and 3 mmol/kg induced neurotoxicity (65-67). Also, the type of the GBCA used affected the results. For example, the macrocyclic GBCA, Gadoteridol, showed the greatest neurotoxic effect among other GBCAs at the same dose following BBB disruption (67). It was lethal at a dose of 1mmol/kg and had a greater neurotoxic effect than Gadobutrol and Gadopentetate Dimeglumine while Gadodiamide did not show any effect (67).

More recent studies that examined the relation between neuroinflammation and linear GBCAs showed that inducing inflammation in rats increases the amount of Gd deposition in the brain following 8 injections of 2.5 mmol/kg of Gadodiamide (68). However, whether the use of a macrocyclic GBCA could yield such a result is yet to be investigated.

On the other hand, GBCAs can reach the brain through structures that lack a BBB such as the CVOs. Once termed "the windows of the brain", CVOs are characterized by their high capillary permeability and the absence of a BBB (69, 70). CVOs are so called since they surround the third ventricle (neurohypophysis, vascular organ of the lamina terminalis, subfornical organ, pineal gland and subcommissural organ) and the fourth ventricle (area postrema) (70). They function to regulate molecular transport, carry out an immunological response against invaders, and interact with autonomic centers like the hypothalamus (71). Thus, CVOs can act as a direct portal for GBCAs to enter the brain without an anatomic barrier.

There are not enough studies that describe the possible mechanisms of spread of Gd deposition between the CNS and PNS. However, given the evidence presented previously, it can be speculated that Gd can utilize the glymphatic system to travel from the brain to the spinal cord and possibly reach the peripheral nerves. Another route of peripheral invasion is transport across nerves. Conversely, Gd can travel from non-neuronal tissues, as mentioned previously, into the peripheral nerves and then get transported retrogradely into the spinal cord and brain. Thus, research on the route of GBCAs spread between the CNS and PNS is needed to help understand and mitigate the observed neurological effects.

F. Possible mechanisms of Gd toxicity

Understanding the mechanism by which Gd can induce neurotoxicity and its consequent adverse effects is key to recovery and prevention. Apoptosis and oxidative stress are one of the mechanisms utilized by Gd (56, 57). Gd can impair the normal function of mitochondria and/or the endoplasmic reticulum to exert its neurotoxic effect. Gd was shown to reduce the mitochondrial membrane potential by increasing the levels of intracellular ROS (72). A study that examined whether GBCAs act similarly found that both macrocyclic and linear GBCAs decrease mitochondrial membrane potential and increase neurotoxicity in dopaminergic neurons of the basal ganglia (73). Whether or not GBCAs induce the same outcome in hippocampal neurons and affect cognitive ability and memory function remain to studied.

Moreover, given the similarity in ionic radius between Gd^{3+} and Ca^{2+} ions, another mechanism by which Gd could be acting is through the interference of Gd with the calcium homeostasis of the endoplasmic reticulum. In support of this claim, it was found that Gd chloride increases intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} and the activity of caspase-4 leading to apoptosis via the ER-stress pathway (72). Gd can also block Ca^{2+} activated enzymes like adenosine triphosphatases (ATPases), kinases, and dehydrogenases (74). Additionally, whole patch clamp studies on rat and human thyroid cells showed that Gd and other lanthanide ions can decrease current flow across T-type VGCC (75). Increasing extracellular Ca^{2+} levels reduced this blockage, which means that Gd ³⁺ acts as a competitive antagonist to Ca^{2+} resulting in a closed channel pore (75). Based on the above data, one could speculate that Gd deposits can modulate the function of VGCC found on sensory and motor neurons, leading to the disruption of synaptic communication and normal neuronal function. Another possible mechanism by which Gd acts is through transmetallation. This is supported by the case report of a man with numbness in the extremities, ataxia, and zinc poisoning from a dental cream, who revealed Gd retention following an injection of Gadopentetate Dimeglumine for an MRI (76). The patient's Gd urine levels remained elevated even after 2 and a half years post Gd exposure (76). Also, an in vitro study on transmetallation found that Zinc-dependent Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) was shown to be significantly inhibited by linear but not macrocyclic GBCAs (77). Normal brains contain different metals such as aluminum, iron, copper and zinc various regions such as the globus pallidus, caudate nucleus, substania nigra, and hippocampus among others (78). The highest concentration of Zinc is found in the hippocampus, amygdala, and other regions (78). Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that transmetallation with Gd at these sites can have deleterious effects on memory

Lastly, Gd can affect the function of white blood cells. For example, a study showed that linear and macrocyclic GBCAs act on monocytes to increase the release of different inflammatory interleukins (IL) such as IL-4, IL-6, and IL-13 (79). Exposing these activated monocytes to human fibroblasts resulted in an increase in types I and III collagen in addition to fibronectin, which are needed to initiate fibrosis and eventually NSF (79). Another study found that micro-concentrations of GBCAs (2.5µmol/L) cause Gd deposition in murine macrophages and lead to an increase in ROS and a reduction in mitochondrial membrane potential (80). Only Gadopentetate Dimeglumine significantly increased the levels of IL-6 while it suppressed the level of IL-10 along with Gadobutrol and Gadodiamide (80). Interestingly, when macrophages were exposed to Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), all GBCAs tested, except Gadobutrol, upregulated the resultant inflammation by reducing the levels of IL-10, IL-6 and increasing the levels of

IL-1 β (80). Thus, Gadobutrol caused the least toxicity in macrophages. The clinical implications of such finding are vital for people with underlying inflammatory conditions who may require GBCA administration.

G.Aim of the Study

The objective of this study is two-fold: 1) to investigate the impact of repeated Gadobutrol administration on the peripheral and central nervous system under normal conditions, and 2) to investigate whether neuroinflammation exacerbates the effect of Gadobutrol.

Our hypothesis is that repeated exposure to gadobutrol leads to Gd deposition in the peripheral and central nervous system and results in symptoms of neurotoxicity. Inflammation of the nervous system is presumed to exacerbate the effect of Gadobutrol.

To assess this hypothesis, the concentration of Gd in the brain and sciatic nerves was measured following the administration of Gadobutrol in normal and inflamed rats. Biochemical, behavioral and electrophysiological tests were also conducted to assess the effect of the resultant Gd deposition on the integrity of the nervous system under normal and inflammatory conditions

CHAPTER II

METHODS

A. Animals

In total, twenty-four male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing around 150-250g were used in this study. The rats were housed in a room maintained at a constant temperature (20-22°C) and with a 12-hour light/dark cycle. Also, standard chow and water were provided ad libitum. All experimental procedures were conducted with the approval of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the American University of Beirut.

B. Experimental design

Twenty-four rats were divided into 4 groups that consist of a saline group(n=8), Gadobutrol group (n=8), LPS + saline group (n=4), and an LPS + Gadobutrol group (n=4). Gadobutrol and saline were administered intraperitoneally for 20 days at a dosage of 2.5mmol/kg. For the LPS groups, LPS was given intraperitoneally at a dosage of 5mg/kg followed by Gadobutrol or saline after 1 hour and for 20 days. This dosage of Gadobutrol is based on the dosage needed to achieve brain MRI enhancement in rodents (81). One day after the final injection, the saline group (n=4) and Gadobutrol group (n=4) underwent electrophysiological recording then they were cardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed with 10% formalin to fix the tissues. Brain, and peripheral nerves (trigeminal and sciatic nerves) were extracted and sent to the Laboratories for the Environment, Agriculture, and Food (LEAF) at the American University of Beirut for Gadolinium measurement using Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-

MS). All groups were assessed using behavioral tests once per week over a period of 4 weeks. One day after the last test, the rats belonging to the saline group(n=4) and Gadobutrol group (n=4) were anesthetized and decapitated to collect fresh samples of the sciatic nerve and hippocampus for LDH activity measurement.



Figure 1: Timeline of the experiment.



Figure 2: Chemical Structure of Gadobutrol.

C.LPS administration

Rats in the LPS + saline group (n=4), and LPS + Gadobutrol group (n=4) were given an intraperitoneal injection of LPS at a dosage of 5mg/kg. The LPS injection was prepared as recommended by Ramírez and colleagues (2019) by dissolving LPS in 0.9% saline solution (82). The weights of the rats were recorded before and after the LPS injection and their behavior was monitored. One hour after the LPS injection, the rats received an intraperitoneal injection of 0.9% saline or Gadobutrol.

D. Animal Perfusion

Prior to perfusion or surgical procedures, the rats were anesthetized using an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (80 mg/kg, Ketalar; Panpharma, Luitré, France) and xylazine (10 mg/kg, Xyla; Interchemie, Harju County, Estonia). Following anesthesia, the rats were perfused through the left ventricle with a saline (0.9%) solution with added heparin followed by 10% formalin for tissue fixation. The brain and

peripheral nerves were extracted and stored in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) overnight then in 30% sucrose solution for storage at 4°C.

E. Behavioral tests

1. Heat Hyperalgesia test

Heat hyperalgesia was assessed in all groups once a week over 4 weeks. To carry out the test, the rats were accommodated for one hour in a clear plastic cage. A heat stimulus, at an intensity of 35 infrared units, was then applied to the plantar surface of the right and left hindpaws. Foot withdrawal latency was measured over 5 trials for both paws with a 10 min interval between each trial to avoid paw injury. A cut-off time of 20 seconds was set to avoid tissue damage.

2. Beam walking test

The Beam walking test was performed to assess motor coordination and balance. One day prior to testing, the rats were trained to walk across the beam and familiarize with the apparatus and new height. During training, the rats were first placed halfway across the beam till they reach the finish point and then they were placed at the starting point. In order to encourage the rats to cross the beam, they were always placed at the same starting point and only moved back to their cage once the finish point was reached. Also, the cage was placed next to the final point so that it is more strongly associated with the safety of the cage. The time required to cross the beam from one side to another was recorded during 3 trials for each rat at the set time points.

3. Spontaneous Alternation T-Maze Test

To assess spatial working memory, the rat groups underwent the spontaneous alternation T-maze test. This is a test driven by spontaneous alternation so no habituation was needed (83). To carry out this test, rats were placed at the start area and were allowed to choose a right or left goal arm. After a choice was made, the rat was confined for 30 seconds by quietly sliding down a guillotine door. Then, the rat was carefully removed, the door was raised, and the rat was replaced at the start area facing away from the goal arms. The chosen goal arm was noted and the percentage of successful alternation was calculated for 3 trials.

F. Electrophysiological Assessment

For electromyographic recordings, each rat in both Gadobutrol and control groups was placed under general anaesthesia (ketamine, 100 mg/kg and xylazine, 10 mg/kg). A small incision was made in the skin at mid-thigh level and the muscle was blunt-dissected to expose the sciatic nerve. Evoked compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs) were evoked in the gastrocnemius muscle in response to sciatic nerve stimulation at 1V, 5V and 7V. Electrical stimulus was delivered using bipolar stainless steel wire electrodes placed directly under the sciatic nerve trunk. Electromyography (EMG) responses were recorded using a microneedle electrode placed in the belly of the gastrocnemius muscle, while the reference electrode was placed in the Achilles tendon. The signal from the recording electrode was fed into a differential amplifier, filtered, and monitored on an oscilloscope (Tektroniks Instruments). The analog signal was sampled in a 1401 data interface (CED 1401, Cambridge, UK) and analyzed using

Spike 2 software. The amplitude of the evoked MAPs from peak to peak was calculated and analyzed.



Figure 3: Setup of the electromyography carried out in the saline and Gadobutrol groups. A bipolar stimulating electrode is connected to the proximal left sciatic nerve and a recording electrode is inserted in the gastrocnemius muscle.

G. Quantification of Gadolinium using ICP-MS

In order to measure the concentration of Gadolinium in the nervous system, the brain, spinal cord, peripheral nerves (trigeminal and sciatic nerves) were extracted from all groups following perfusion. The extracted tissues were digested at 180°C for 30 minutes. Along with the samples, a blank, spiked blank, certified referenced sample, and a matrix spike were run as well. The concentration of Gd was measured by using ICP-MS (Agilent 7500ce; Agilent, Waldbronn, Germany).

H. LDH assay

The activity of LDH was measured in the saline group (n=4) and Gadobutrol group (n=4) one day after the last injection. The rats were anesthetized then decapitated to extract the right sciatic nerve and right hippocampus. The extracted tissues were kept on ice at all times to preserve enzyme activity. Prior to dissection, the tissues were rinsed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (pH=7.4) to remove all traces of blood. The sciatic nerve was carefully teased to remove connective tissue and the surrounding epineurium. Then, the tissues were homogenized, using an electric homogenizer, in 5ml buffer containing 100 mM potassium phosphate (pH 7.0) and 2 mM EDTA, per one gram of tissue. Following homogenization, the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C then the supernatant was collected. A working reagent was prepared from reagents provided by the LDH assay kit (QuantiChrom[™] Lactate Dehydrogenase Kit, D2DH-100). More specifically, for one well, the working reagent was prepared by mixing 14 µL MTT Solution, 8 µL NAD Solution, 1 µL Diaphorase and 175 µL Substrate Buffer. Into a 96 well plate, 200µl of distilled water and 200µl of calibrator were transferred into separate wells along with 10µl of the sample supernatant and 190µl of the working reagent. Immediately, the OD565 was measured using a Microplate Fluorometer/Luminometer Fluoroskan Ascent FL (Thermoscientific) at t=0min and at t=25min. LDH activity was subsequently calculated according to the formula: LDH Activity = $\frac{ODS25 - ODS0}{\varepsilon mtt \cdot l} \times \frac{\text{Reaction Vol}(\mu L)}{\text{Time} \cdot \text{Sample Vol}(\mu L)} \times n = 43.68 \times 10^{-1}$ $\frac{ODS25 - ODS0}{ODCAL - ODH20}$ × n (IU/L). For the right hippocampus only, the collected supernatant was diluted using a dilution factor of n=5.

I. Statistical analysis

All results were statistically analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, Inc., CA, United States). The data were represented as average ± standard error of the mean (SEM). For the behavioral tests, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test were carried out to compare the averages of all the tested groups at each time point. Also, multiple t-tests within each group were carried out to compare the results at different time points with the baseline as a reference point. An unpaired t-test was used to analyze statistical significance in the results obtained from the ICP-MS and LDH activity assay while multiple t-tests were used in the EMG results to compare the mean amplitudes at each voltage. Statistical significance was indicated by a P value less than 0.05.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

A. Heat Hyperalgesia

Heat hyperalgesia tests were conducted on all rats once a week over a period of 4 weeks to assess their response to a noxious heat stimulus. A reduction in paw withdrawal response indicates an increased sensitivity to noxious thermal stimulation. For the right paw, the LPS + saline group (5.33 ± 0.2113) showed a statistically significant reduction in paw withdrawal latency when compared to the saline group $(7.005\pm0.4178; P=0.0265)$ at week 1. A similar decrease in latency was observed for the LPS + Gadobutrol group at week 4. Compared to baseline, the withdrawal latency of the LPS + saline, Gadobutrol and LPS + Gadobutrol groups declined significantly at week 2 (P=0.0039; P=0.0044; P=0.004). On the other hand, the withdrawal latency of only the Gadobutrol group decreased significantly compared to baseline at week 3 and week 4 (P=0.0061; P=0.0015).

For the left paw, at the end of week 3, the LPS + saline group (5.14 ± 0.3275) and LPS + Gadobutrol group (4.755 ± 0.3163) demonstrated significantly lower withdrawal latency than the saline group $(7.025\pm0.28; P=0.0193; P=0.0055)$. Also, the LPS + Gadobutrol (4.755 ± 0.3163) has significantly lower withdrawal latency than the Gadobutrol group $(6.545\pm0.538; P=0.0263)$. Compared to baseline, the LPS + Gadobutrol group exhibited a statistically significant decline in withdrawal latency at for the duration of the experiment (P=0.0318; P=0.0175; P=0.001; P=0.0005).



Figure 4: A- Effect of Gadobutrol administration on heat hyperalgesia in the right hindpaw. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline (++: P <0.01). One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point between groups.

B- Effect of Gadobutrol administration on heat hyperalgesia in the left hindpaw. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline (+: P<0.05; +++: P<0.001). One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point between group (*: P<0.05).

*at week 3: significant difference between the LPS + Gadobutrol and Gadobutrol

B. Beam Walking

Beam walking test was conducted to assess balance and coordination. Statistical analysis results showed that only the LPS + Gadobutrol group (2.697 ± 0.3511) had a significantly longer beam crossing duration than the saline group $(1.648\pm0.1435;$ P=0.0231) during week 3. On the other hand, compared to baseline, The LPS and LPS +

Gadobutrol groups required a longer time to cross the beam when tested at week 2

(P=0.0188, P=0.0282), week 3 (P=0.0076, P=0.0011), and week 4 (P=0.0038, P=0015).



Figure 5: Effect of Gadobutrol administration on motor performance in the beam walking test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline (+: P<0.05; ++: P <0.01). One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point between groups.

C. Spontaneous alternation T- Maze test

In order to evaluate the cognitive performance of the tested groups, the

spontaneous alternation T-maze test was performed once a week for 4 weeks. Statistical

significance was only detected between the means of the saline (100 \pm 0) and LPS +

Gadobutrol (58.34±8.335) groups during week 3 (P=0.0103). Also, compared to

baseline, no significant decrease in working memory was detected.



Figure 6: Effect of Gadobutrol administration on spatial working memory in the T-maze test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests were used to compare the mean at each time point with the baseline. One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test were used to compare the means at each time point.

D. Electrophysiological Assessment

Electromyographic recording did not reveal significant difference between the mean amplitude of the evoked CMAPs of the saline and Gadobutrol groups. However, the Gadobutrol group exhibited muscle activation at a stimulating voltage of 1V (0.6887 \pm 0.1084) while the saline group required a higher voltage of 5V for activation (1.49 \pm 0.4264).



Figure 7: Amplitude of the evoked compound muscle action potentials recorded at a voltage of 1V, 5V, and 7V in the saline and Gadobutrol groups. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, multiple t-tests were done at each voltage.

E. Quantification of Gadolinium using ICP-MS

In the cerebrum, the concentration of Gd was significantly greater in the Gadobutrol group (0.4465 ± 0.0394) compared to the saline group (0.0560 ± 0.0213 ; P= 0.0001). Moreover, the LPS + Gadobutrol group (1.715) showed greater Gd deposition than the Gadobutrol group (0.4465 ± 0.0394). Similarly, in the peripheral nerves, the Gadobutrol group (9.253 ± 1.069) showed a significantly greater concentration of Gd compared to the saline group (0.4245 ± 0.1811 ; P=0.0031). However, the LPS + Gadobutrol group (3.935) showed greater Gd deposition than the Gadobutrol group (3.935) showed greater Gd deposition than the Gadobutrol group (9.253 ± 1.069).

| | Cerebrum | Peripheral Nerves |
|------------------------------|---------------|-------------------|
| Saline group (n=4) | 0.0560±0.0213 | 0.4245±0.1811 |
| Gadobutrol group (n=4) | 0.4465±0.0394 | 9.253±1.069 |
| LPS + Gadobutrol group (n=2) | 1.715 | 3.935 |

Table 2: The concentration of Gadolinium in the cerebrum and peripheral nerves of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and the LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 8: Concentration of Gadolinium in the cerebrum (area between the optic chiasm and the midbrain) of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done (***: P <0.001).



Gadolinium Concentration in the Peripheral Nerves

Figure 9: Concentration of Gadolinium in the peripheral nerves (sciatic and trigeminal nerves) of the saline group, Gadobutrol group, and LPS + Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done (**: P <0.01).

F. LDH assay

In the right hippocampus, LDH activity was significantly greater in the

Gadobutrol group (1661 ± 75.46) compared to the saline group (1260 ± 59.90 ; P= 0.0059).

However, no significant difference was detected between the two groups in the right

sciatic nerve (Gadobutrol: 209.7±21.50; saline: 234.8±42.26).



Figure 10: Lactate dehydrogenase activity in the right hippocampus of the saline group and the Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done (**: P <0.01).



Figure 11: Lactate dehydrogenase activity in the right sciatic nerve of the saline group and Gadobutrol group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. For statistical analysis, an unpaired t-test was done.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

This study was conducted to evaluate the safety profile of Gadobutrol by assessing its effect on sensorimotor and cognitive functions under normal and inflammatory conditions. Our findings have shown that repeated injections of Gadobutrol, under normal conditions, do not cause cognitive, motor, or sensory impairment. However, the cumulative effect of LPS-induced inflammation and Gadobutrol can result over time in increased sensitivity to noxious stimulation. Repeated injections of a high dose (2.5mmol/kg) of Gadobutrol resulted in Gd deposition in the cerebrum and peripheral nerves along with cellular damage in the hippocampus but not in peripheral nerves. Nevertheless, Gadobutrol led to a decreased activation threshold in the sciatic nerve. More importantly, our preliminary data showed that an LPS- induced inflammation resulted in greater Gd deposition in the cerebrum but lower deposition in peripheral nerves.

Results of the behavioral tests are consistent with previous studies demonstrating the safe use of macrocyclic GBCAs. Indeed, many clinical studies showed that the rate of adverse reactions following Gadobutrol injection was very low and multiple injections did not result in hyperintensities in the dentate nucleus or globus pallidus (40-42). Moreover, absence of pain sensitivity following gadobutrol injection is in agreement with the findings of the study by Alkhunizi et al., (2020), showing that macrocyclic GBCAs do not induce heat hyperalgesia in rats even at high dosages (49). Interestingly, our results showed that Gadobutrol, like Gadodiamide and Gadoterate Meglumine, caused no spatial working memory impairment in rats (49). Although no assessment of hippocampal neurogenesis and cell proliferation was carried out in the present study, hippocampal cellular degeneration following Gadobutrol was evident by an increase in the LDH activity. Until present, there are no studies on the impact of Gadobutrol on the hippocampus, so our results are the first to provide evidence for cellular damage in this brain area. Previous studies have shown that cell death and oxidative stress are one of the mechanisms through which GBCAs could exert their effect (56, 57). Even though no markers of oxidative stress were measured in this study, the increase in hippocampal LDH activity lends support to this mechanism. Nonetheless, the present results are in line with those of an in vivo study showing that Gadobutrol increases LDH activity in cells with the effect being more pronounced using linear GBCAs (58).

By comparing the ICP-MS results to a previous study that utilized the same dose of Gadobutrol, regimen of injection, and duration before tissue collection, Gd concentration is lower in the cerebrum than the dentate nucleus (19). It is possible that the large difference in the weights of the collected tissues may be attributed to the differences in Gd concentrations. With regard to other types of GBCAs, the ICP-MS results show that intraperitoneal injection of Gadobutrol leads to lower Gd deposition than Gadodiamide and Gadoterate Meglumine in the cerebrum (49). However, in peripheral nerves, Gadobutrol resulted in greater Gd deposition than Gadoterate Meglumine even though it was still less than that of Gadodiamide (49). Thus, Gd deposition does not only differ according to whether a GBCA is linear or macrocyclic but also depends on the nature of the GBCA administered. It is well known that linear GBCAs deposit more Gd than macrocyclic GBCAs; however, our understanding of the mechanisms underlying its toxic effect in peripheral nervous system is still preliminary,

and the clinical significance of such deposits remains undetermined. Although our behavioral results did not reveal any sensory changes or motor deficits in rats exposed to Gadobutrol, the EMG recordings clearly indicate that these rats exhibited enhanced motor unit recruitment in response to low stimulus threshold as compared to control, suggesting that Gd³⁺ deposited in nerves could interfere with nerve conduction and induce this increased response. Whether Gd³⁺ deposition has a differential effect on sensory and motor fibers remains to be determined. These findings possibly support the modulatory effect of Gd on voltage gated channels as a mechanism of action leading to impaired signal transduction in the peripheral nerves (75).

When LPS was injected prior to Gadobutrol, the amount of Gd deposited in the nervous system was altered. This is supported by previous studies which showed that 8 injections of 2.5 mmol/kg of Gadodiamide in rats with neuroinflammation lead to an increase in Gd deposition in the brain (68). LPS is known to induce a state of chronic neuroinflammation through activating a network of pro-inflammatory factors (TNF α and IL-18) (84). The onset of this activation is rapid as levels of proinflammatory cytokines were shown to increase 30 minutes following LPS administration (85). Furthermore, TNF α levels peak in the brain 60 minutes after an intraperitoneal injection of 5mg/kg LPS in mice (86). This study demonstrated for the first time that repeated exposure to Gadobutrol, coupled with inflammation, could lead to enhanced neural changes resulting in increased sensitivity to sensory stimulation. Moreover, the interplay between inflammation and Gadobutrol is supported by a previous finding that noted an increase in the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, levels following Gadobutrol exposure, but not as much as other GBCAs (80). The effect of Gd on levels of inflammatory cytokines is a possible mechanism of action for Gd neurotoxicity that

requires more investigation. On the other hand, inflammation induced by LPS could have possibly compromised the integrity of the BBB and allowed more Gd to reach the brain given the increase in Gd deposition in the LPS + Gadobutrol group. The compromised BBB could also explain the drop in Gd deposition in the peripheral nerves of the aforementioned group supporting the notion that Gd deposition increases near inflammatory sites. More importantly, the development of heat hyperalgesia in the LPS + Gadobutrol group may be the result of central or peripheral sensitization induced by the neuroinflammation, and enhanced by the Gd deposition in both areas (49).

Despite the novel findings of the study, it had several limitations. The small sample size per group might have skewed the results making the outcome insignificant. Thus, increasing the sample size is recommended to ensure more reliable results. Moreover, the levels of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines prior to and following LPS injection were not measured to confirm the presence of inflammation in the CNS, and to determine the time at which inflammation is maximal to administer Gadobutrol. The levels of cytokines should be measured after 20 days of Gadobutrol to account for any changes. The high dosage of Gadobutrol used in the present study was another limitation because it does not correlate with the clinically administered dose. However, it would be interesting to investigate whether a lower dosage (0.8mmol/kg) could result in an increase in hippocampal LDH activity. Markers of oxidative stress should also be measured to better understand the mechanism of action of GBCAs. Due to time limitations, the LDH activity in the hippocampus and the sciatic nerves was not measured in tissues of rats injected with LPS, which is vital to perform in light of working memory decline exhibited by this group on week 3. Lastly, the cognitive test

used in this study measures the exploratory behavior in animals; hence, for a more robust evaluation of cognitive functions, additional memory tests should be performed.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This study examined the safety profile of repeated high dose injections of Gadobutrol by evaluating its effect on the CNS and PNS in normal and inflammatory states. The findings demonstrate evident Gd deposition in peripheral nerves and the cerebrum with a high hippocampal LDH activity indicating neuronal damage. Under inflammatory conditions, repeated injections of Gadobutrol induced the development of heat hyperalgesia and increased Gd deposition in the cerebrum, suggesting that inflammation could serve as a trigger factor for Gadobutrol neurotoxicity. It is worth noting that this study is the first to show not only hippocampal cell damage following a high dose of Gadobutrol but also altered sensory responses when Gadobutrol was given following LPS. These results shed the light on the role of inflammation in GBCA neurotoxicity and pave the way for clinicians and scientists to conduct intensive research into the role of inflammatory mediators in exacerbating the neurotoxic effect of retained Gd. Understanding the mechanisms of action of GBCAs requires further investigation, as they appear to employ different pathways resulting in central and peripheral neurological manifestations.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Weinmann H-J, Brasch RC, Press W-R, Wesbey GE. Characteristics of gadolinium-DTPA complex: a potential NMR contrast agent. American journal of roentgenology. 1984;142(3):619-24.

FDA. MAGNEVIST (gadopentetate dimeglumine) injection, for intravenous use
 2014 [Available from:

https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2014/019596s057lbl.pdf.

3. Port M, Idée J-M, Medina C, Robic C, Sabatou M, Corot C. Efficiency, thermodynamic and kinetic stability of marketed gadolinium chelates and their possible clinical consequences: a critical review. Biometals. 2008;21(4):469-90.

4. Marckmann P, Skov L, Rossen K, Dupont A, Damholt MB, Heaf JG, et al. Nephrogenic systemic fibrosis: suspected causative role of gadodiamide used for contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2006;17(9):2359-62.

5. FDA. FDA Drug Safety Communication: New warnings for using gadoliniumbased contrast agents in patients with kidney dysfunction | FDA: @US_FDA; 2010 [Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-drug-</u> <u>safety-communication-new-warnings-using-gadolinium-based-contrast-agents-patients-</u> <u>kidney</u>.

6. FDA. FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA warns that gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs) are retained in the body; requires new class warnings | FDA:
@US_FDA; 2017 [Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-</u>

availability/fda-drug-safety-communication-fda-warns-gadolinium-based-contrastagents-gbcas-are-retained-body.

7. Le Fur M, Caravan P. The biological fate of gadolinium-based MRI contrast agents: a call to action for bioinorganic chemists. Metallomics. 2019;11(2):240-54.

8. Merbach AS, Helm L, Toth E. The chemistry of contrast agents in medical magnetic resonance imaging: John Wiley & Sons; 2013.

 Hao D, Ai T, Goerner F, Hu X, Runge VM, Tweedle M. MRI contrast agents: basic chemistry and safety. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2012;36(5):1060-71.

 Fraum TJ, Ludwig DR, Bashir MR, Fowler KJ. Gadolinium-based contrast agents: A comprehensive risk assessment. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2017;46(2):338-53.

 Frenzel T, Lengsfeld P, Schirmer H, Hütter J, Weinmann H-J. Stability of gadolinium-based magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents in human serum at 37 C. Invest Radiol. 2008;43(12):817-28.

12. Damadian R, Goldsmith M, Minkoff L. Nmr in cancer: Xvi. fonar image of the uve human body. Physiological chemistry and physics. 1977;9(1):97-100.

Huk WJ, Gademann G. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): method and early clinical experiences in diseases of the central nervous system. Neurosurg Rev. 1984;7(4):259-80.

14. Botta M. Second coordination sphere water molecules and relaxivity of gadolinium (III) complexes: implications for MRI contrast agents. European journal of inorganic chemistry. 2000;2000(3):399-407.

15. Dumas S, Jacques V, Sun W-C, Troughton JS, Welch JT, Chasse JM, et al. High relaxivity magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents part 1: impact of single donor atom substitution on relaxivity of serum albumin-bound gadolinium complexes. Invest Radiol. 2010;45(10):600-12.

 Kanal E, Maravilla K, Rowley H. Gadolinium contrast agents for CNS imaging: current concepts and clinical evidence. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 2014;35(12):2215-26.

17. Roberts DR, Lindhorst SM, Welsh CT, Maravilla KR, Herring MN, Braun KA, et al. High levels of gadolinium deposition in the skin of a patient with normal renal function. Invest Radiol. 2016;51(5):280-9.

18. White GW, Gibby WA, Tweedle MF. Comparison of Gd (DTPA-

BMA)(Omniscan) versus Gd (HP-DO3A)(ProHance) relative to gadolinium retention in human bone tissue by inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy. Invest Radiol. 2006;41(3):272-8.

 McDonald RJ, McDonald JS, Dai D, Schroeder D, Jentoft ME, Murray DL, et al. Comparison of gadolinium concentrations within multiple rat organs after intravenous administration of linear versus macrocyclic gadolinium chelates. Radiology. 2017;285(2):536-45.

20. Kanda T, Ishii K, Kawaguchi H, Kitajima K, Takenaka D. High signal intensity in the dentate nucleus and globus pallidus on unenhanced T1-weighted MR images: relationship with increasing cumulative dose of a gadolinium-based contrast material. Radiology. 2014;270(3):834-41.

21. Kanda T, Fukusato T, Matsuda M, Toyoda K, Oba H, Kotoku Ji, et al.Gadolinium-based contrast agent accumulates in the brain even in subjects without

severe renal dysfunction: evaluation of autopsy brain specimens with inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy. Radiology. 2015;276(1):228-32.

22. Aime S, Caravan P. Biodistribution of gadolinium-based contrast agents,
including gadolinium deposition. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging: An Official
Journal of the International Society for Magnetic Resonance in Medicine.
2009;30(6):1259-67.

23. FDA. Gadavist (gadobutrol) injection 2011 [Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2011/201277s000lbl.pdf.

Garcia J, Liu SZ, Louie AY. Biological effects of MRI contrast agents:
gadolinium retention, potential mechanisms and a role for phosphorus. Philosophical
Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences.
2017;375(2107):20170180.

25. McDonald JS, Hunt CH, Kolbe AB, Schmitz JJ, Hartman RP, Maddox DE, et al. Acute adverse events following gadolinium-based contrast agent administration: a single-center retrospective study of 281 945 injections. Radiology. 2019;292(3):620-7.

26. de Kerviler E, Maravilla K, Meder J-F, Naggara O, Dubourdieu C, Jullien V, et al. Adverse reactions to gadoterate meglumine: review of over 25 years of clinical use and more than 50 million doses. Invest Radiol. 2016;51(9):544-51.

27. Abujudeh HH, Kosaraju VK, Kaewlai R. Acute adverse reactions to gadopentetate dimeglumine and gadobenate dimeglumine: experience with 32,659 injections. American journal of roentgenology. 2010;194(2):430-4.

Aran S, Shaqdan K, Abujudeh H. Adverse allergic reactions to linear ionic gadolinium-based contrast agents: experience with 194, 400 injections. Clin Radiol. 2015;70(5):466-75.

29. Power S, Talbot N, Kucharczyk W, Mandell DM. Allergic-like reactions to the MR imaging contrast agent gadobutrol: a prospective study of 32 991 consecutive injections. Radiology. 2016;281(1):72-7.

30. Saupe N, Zanetti M, Pfirrmann CW, Wels T, Schwenke C, Hodler J. Pain and other side effects after MR arthrography: prospective evaluation in 1085 patients. Radiology. 2009;250(3):830-8.

31. Iqbal A, Roche C. Severe Arm Pain Preceding Life-threatening Reaction to Gadolinium-a Possible Warning Sign? JOURNAL-HONG KONG COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS. 2003;6:40-1.

32. Semelka RC, Commander CW, Jay M, Burke LM, Ramalho M. Presumed gadolinium toxicity in subjects with normal renal function: a report of 4 cases. Invest Radiol. 2016;51(10):661-5.

33. Burke LM, Ramalho M, AlObaidy M, Chang E, Jay M, Semelka RC. Selfreported gadolinium toxicity: a survey of patients with chronic symptoms. Magn Reson Imaging. 2016;34(8):1078-80.

34. Lattanzio SM, Imbesi F. Fibromyalgia associated with repeated gadolinium contrast-enhanced MRI examinations. Radiology case reports. 2020;15(5):534-41.

35. Chauhan G, Upadhyay A. Gadolinium-based contrast agent-induced neurotoxicity: seeing is believing! BMJ Case Rep. 2021;14(1).

36. Pokersnik JA, Liu L, Simon EL. Contrast-induced encephalopathy presenting as acute subarachnoid hemorrhage. The American journal of emergency medicine.
2018;36(6):1122. e3-. e4.

37. Kapoor R, Liu J, Devasenapathy A, Gordin V. Gadolinium encephalopathy after intrathecal gadolinium injection. Pain physician. 2010;13(5):E321-E6.

38. Provenzano DA, Pellis Z, DeRiggi L. Fatal gadolinium-induced encephalopathy following accidental intrathecal administration: a case report and a comprehensive evidence-based review. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2019;44(7):721-9.

39. Hagedorn JM, Bendel MA, Moeschler SM, Lamer TJ, Pope JE, Deer TR.
Intrathecal gadolinium use for the chronic pain physician. Neuromodulation:
Technology at the Neural Interface. 2019;22(7):769-74.

40. Glutig K, Hahn G, Kuvvetli P, Endrikat J. Safety of gadobutrol: results of a noninterventional study of 3710 patients, including 404 children. Acta Radiologica. 2019;60(7):873-9.

41. Endrikat J, Schwenke C, Prince M. Gadobutrol for contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in elderly patients: review of the safety profile from clinical trial, post-marketing surveillance, and pharmacovigilance data. Clin Radiol. 2015;70(7):743-51.

42. Ozturk K, Nascene D. Effect of At Least Ten Serial Gadobutrol Administrations on Brain Signal Intensity Ratios on T1-Weighted MRI in Children: A Matched Case-Control Study. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2020.

43. Murata N, Gonzalez-Cuyar LF, Murata K, Fligner C, Dills R, Hippe D, et al. Macrocyclic and other non–group 1 gadolinium contrast agents deposit low levels of gadolinium in brain and bone tissue: preliminary results from 9 patients with normal renal function. Invest Radiol. 2016;51(7):447-53.

44. Darrah TH, Prutsman-Pfeiffer JJ, Poreda RJ, Ellen Campbell M, Hauschka PV, Hannigan RE. Incorporation of excess gadolinium into human bone from medical contrast agents. Metallomics. 2009;1(6):479-88.

45. Edeklev C, Halvorsen M, Løvland G, Vatnehol S, Gjertsen Ø, Nedregaard B, et al. Intrathecal use of gadobutrol for glymphatic MR imaging: prospective safety study of 100 patients. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 2019;40(8):1257-64.

46. Halvorsen M, Edeklev CS, Fraser-Green J, Løvland G, Vatnehol SAS, GjertsenØ, et al. Off-label intrathecal use of gadobutrol: safety study and comparison ofadministration protocols. Neuroradiology. 2021;63(1):51-61.

47. Reeves C, Galang E, Padalia R, Tran N, Padalia D. Intrathecal injection of gadobutrol: a tale of caution. J Pain Pall Care Pharmacother. 2017;31(2):139-43.

48. Radbruch A, Richter H, Bücker P, Berlandi J, Schänzer A, Deike-Hofmann K, et al. Is small fiber neuropathy induced by gadolinium-based contrast agents? Invest Radiol. 2020;55(8):473-80.

49. Alkhunizi SM, Fakhoury M, Abou-Kheir W, Lawand N. Gadolinium Retention in the Central and Peripheral Nervous System: Implications for Pain, Cognition, and Neurogenesis. Radiology. 2020;297(2):407-16.

50. Sutresno A, Haryanto F, Viridi S, Arif I. Influence Blocking by Gadolinium in Calcium Diffusion on Synapse Model: A Monte Carlo Simulation Study. Journal of Biomedical Physics & Engineering. 2020;10(3):251.

51. Castro-Junior C, Ferreira L, Delgado M, Silva J, Santos D. Role of calcium permeable channels in pain processing. Ion Channels in Health and Sickness. 2018:107.

52. Finnerup NB, Kuner R, Jensen TS. Neuropathic pain: from mechanisms to treatment. Physiological Reviews. 2021;101(1):259-301.

53. Ray D, Cavanagh J, Nolan C, Williams S. Neurotoxic effects of gadopentetate dimeglumine: behavioral disturbance and morphology after intracerebroventricular injection in rats. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 1996;17(2):365-73.

54. Ray DE, Holton JL, Nolan CC, Cavanagh JB, Harpur ES. Neurotoxic potential of gadodiamide after injection into the lateral cerebral ventricle of rats. American journal of neuroradiology. 1998;19(8):1455-62.

55. Henriques B, Coppola F, Monteiro R, Pinto J, Viana T, Pretti C, et al.
Toxicological assessment of anthropogenic Gadolinium in seawater: Biochemical effects in mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis. Science of The Total Environment.
2019;664:626-34.

56. Feng X, Xia Q, Yuan L, Yang X, Wang K. Impaired mitochondrial function and oxidative stress in rat cortical neurons: implications for gadolinium-induced neurotoxicity. Neurotoxicology. 2010;31(4):391-8.

57. Xia Q, Feng X, Huang H, Du L, Yang X, Wang K. Gadolinium-induced oxidative stress triggers endoplasmic reticulum stress in rat cortical neurons. J Neurochem. 2011;117(1):38-47.

58. Erdoğan MA, Apaydin M, Armagan G, Taskiran D. Evaluation of toxicity of gadolinium-based contrast agents on neuronal cells. Acta Radiologica.

2020:0284185120920801.

59. Caito S, Aschner M. Neurotoxicity of metals. Handb. 2015;131:169-89.

60. Taoka T, Naganawa S. Gadolinium-based contrast media, cerebrospinal fluid and the glymphatic system: possible mechanisms for the deposition of gadolinium in the brain. Magn. 2018;17(2):111.

61. Jost G, Frenzel T, Lohrke J, Lenhard DC, Naganawa S, Pietsch H. Penetration and distribution of gadolinium-based contrast agents into the cerebrospinal fluid in healthy rats: a potential pathway of entry into the brain tissue. European radiology. 2017;27(7):2877-85.

62. McDonald RJ, McDonald JS, Kallmes DF, Jentoft ME, Murray DL, Thielen KR, et al. Intracranial gadolinium deposition after contrast-enhanced MR imaging. Radiology. 2015;275(3):772-82.

63. Obermeier B, Daneman R, Ransohoff RM. Development, maintenance and disruption of the blood-brain barrier. Nat Med. 2013;19(12):1584.

64. Van Dyken P, Lacoste B. Impact of metabolic syndrome on neuroinflammation and the blood–brain barrier. Front. 2018;12:930.

65. Evill CA, Wilson AJ, Fletcher MC, Sage MR. Neurotoxicity of contrast media for magnetic resonance imaging after generalized breakdown of the blood-brain barrier. Academic radiology. 1996;3:S336-S8.

66. Roman-Goldstein SM, Barnett PA, McCormick CI, Szumowski J, Shannon EM, Ramsey FL, et al. Effects of Gd-DTPA after osmotic BBB disruption in a rodent model: toxicity and MR findings. Journal of computer assisted tomography. 1994;18(5):731-6.

67. Takahashi M, Tsutsui H, Murayama C, Miyazawa T, Fritz-Zieroth B.
Neurotoxicity of gadolinium contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging in rats
with osmotically disrupted blood-brain barrier. Magn Reson Imaging. 1996;14(6):61923.

68. Wang S, Hesse B, Roman M, Stier D, Castillo-Michel H, Cotte M, et al. Increased retention of gadolinium in the inflamed brain after repeated administration of gadopentetate dimeglumine: a proof-of-concept study in mice combining ICP-MS and micro–and Nano–SR-XRF. Invest Radiol. 2019;54(10):617-26.

69. Gross PM, Weindl A, Knigge KM. Peering through the windows of the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1987;7(6):663-72.

70. Duvernoy HM, Risold P-Y. The circumventricular organs: an atlas of comparative anatomy and vascularization. Brain research reviews. 2007;56(1):119-47.

71. Siso S, Jeffrey M, Gonzalez L. Sensory circumventricular organs in health and disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2010;120(6):689-705.

72. Tsai Y-F, Huang C-W, Chiang J-H, Tsai F-J, Hsu Y-M, Lu C-C, et al. Gadolinium chloride elicits apoptosis in human osteosarcoma U-2 OS cells through extrinsic signaling, intrinsic pathway and endoplasmic reticulum stress. Oncology reports. 2016;36(6):3421-6.

73. Bower DV, Richter JK, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Heverhagen JT, Runge VM. Gadolinium-based MRI contrast agents induce mitochondrial toxicity and cell death in human neurons, and toxicity increases with reduced kinetic stability of the agent. Invest Radiol. 2019;54(8):453-63.

74. Ramalho J, Semelka R, Ramalho M, Nunes R, AlObaidy M, Castillo M. Gadolinium-based contrast agent accumulation and toxicity: an update. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 2016;37(7):1192-8.

75. Mlinar B, Enyeart J. Block of current through T-type calcium channels by trivalent metal cations and nickel in neural rat and human cells. The Journal of physiology. 1993;469(1):639-52.

76. Greenberg SA. Zinc transmetallation and gadolinium retention after MR imaging: case report. Radiology. 2010;257(3):670-3.

77. Corot C, Idee JM, Hentsch AM, Santus R, Mallet C, Goulas V, et al. Structureactivity relationship of macrocyclic and linear gadolinium chelates: investigation of transmetallation effect on the zinc-dependent metallopeptidase angiotensin-converting enzyme. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 1998;8(3):695-702. 78. Speziali M, Orvini E. Metals distribution and regionalization in the brain. Metal ions and neurodegenerative disorders: World Scientific; 2003. p. 15-65.

79. Wermuth PJ, Jimenez SA. Induction of a type I interferon signature in normal human monocytes by gadolinium-based contrast agents: comparison of linear and macrocyclic agents. Clinical & Experimental Immunology. 2014;175(1):113-25.

80. Weng T-I, Chen HJ, Lu C-W, Ho Y-C, Wu J-L, Liu S-H, et al. Exposure of macrophages to low-dose gadolinium-based contrast medium: impact on oxidative stress and cytokines production. Contrast media & molecular imaging. 2018;2018.

Portnoy S, Bishop J, Dazai J, Spring S, Henkelman R. Characterization of signal ehnacement following the intraperitoneal injection of gadolinium based contrast agents.
Proc 16th Sci Meet Int Soc Magn Reson Med Toronto. 2008;54:3206.

82. Ramírez K, Quesada-Yamasaki D, Fornaguera-Trías J. A Protocol to Perform Systemic Lipopolysacharide (LPS) Challenge in Rats. Odovtos-International Journal of Dental Sciences. 2019;21(1):53-66.

Bacon RM, Rawlins JNP. T-maze alternation in the rodent. Nature protocols.
 2006;1(1):7.

84. Bossù P, Cutuli D, Palladino I, Caporali P, Angelucci F, Laricchiuta D, et al. A single intraperitoneal injection of endotoxin in rats induces long-lasting modifications in behavior and brain protein levels of TNF- α and IL-18. J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9(1):1-12.

85. Fu HQ, Yang T, Xiao W, Fan L, Wu Y, Terrando N, et al. Prolonged neuroinflammation after lipopolysaccharide exposure in aged rats. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(8):e106331.

86. Qin L, Wu X, Block ML, Liu Y, Breese GR, Hong JS, et al. Systemic LPS causes chronic neuroinflammation and progressive neurodegeneration. Glia.
2007;55(5):453-62.